#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. SC03-1326

#### DONALD W. DUFOUR,

**Appellant** 

versus,

## STATE OF FLORDIA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LESLIE ANNE SCALLEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0174981 ASSISTANT CCC

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0005584 ASSISTANT CCC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544 813-740-3554 (Facsimile)

# COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County's denial of Donald Dufour's 3.851 Motion for Postconviction Relief. Citations to the postconviction record on appeal are referenced by PCR, followed by the appropriate volume and page number. Citations to the direct appeal record are referenced TR, followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 20, 1983, the grand jury returned an indictment charging Mr. Dufour with the first degree premeditated murder of Zack Miller, which occurred in 1981 (TR 2224). Mr. Dufour was tried May 21-31, 1984. The jury found Mr. Dufour guilty of premeditated first degree murder.

The penalty phase began on June 15, 1984, and ended the same day (TR 1473). The penalty phase defense comprises 29 pages in the record on appeal and consisted of three live witnesses, two of whom testified for the state during the guilt phase, portions of a prior sworn statement by another state guilt phase witness that defense counsel read to the jury, and an incomplete copy of Donald Dufour's school records (TR 1575-1604). Stacey Sigler testified that Donald Dufour liked kids, loved her grandmother, "didn't have a good childhood", has a brother who is gay, did not like her to work as a prostitute, and used cocaine and alcohol (TR 1575-82). Sigler also

testified that her grandmother felt Donald Dufour was a dangerous influence on her, she supported him for eight months while working as a prostitute, and he brought prostitution clients to her (TR 1575-82). Gary Dufour testified that Donald's father "wasn't working steady", "didn't get along with anybody", "didn't have any money", "drank quite a lot to solve his problems", "took it out on everybody that was around him", "particularly on Don" (TR 1584-85). He also testified that George Dufour is gay, Don did poorly in school, Donald started drinking alcohol when he was young, had a drug and alcohol problem, and once sought treatment (TR 1587-88). Sister Cathleen Spurlin testified that Donald Dufour found religion while he was incarcerated in Mississippi (TR 1594-1602). Defense counsel then read portions of Raymond Ryan's pre-trial statement:

He drinks all the time. He is a constant drinking [sic], he drank a fifth or two every day. He would get up in the morning and first thing he did, he might kill a beer and then he is going to buy a bottle of liquor and drink the whole thing, or either [sic] wine. He drinks liebfraumilch by the gallons.

[H]e started crying and told me he wished he was different. He knew what was wrong with hisself [sic]. He knew that he could find hisself [sic].

(TR 1603). The defense read the sworn statement "to establish that during this period of time he was heavily in drug usage, taking all kinds of drugs" (TR 1506). Following

arguments by counsel, the judge instructed the jury on five statutory aggravating circumstances and listed four mitigating circumstances for the jury to consider (TR 1633-35). The jury returned an advisory recommendation of death by a vote of 12 to 0 (TR 2712).

The court reconvened on July 3, 1984, for the sentencing (TR 1649). The defense presented no evidence (TR 1649). The trial court found four aggravating elements: prior violent felony, during the commission of a felony, avoiding lawful arrest, and cold, calculated and premeditated, and no mitigating circumstances (TR 1657-58). The court further noted "all of the factors presented by the Defendant at the sentencing hearing taken together are insufficient as mitigation to outweigh any single one of the aggravating circumstances set forth above" (TR 1830).

On direct appeal, this Court held that the trial court erroneously found that the avoiding arrest aggravating element existed, but that the error was harmless in light of the total absence of mitigation:

we agree that the court erroneously found that the murder had been committed for the purpose of avoiding a lawful arrest, section 921.141(5)(e), Florida Statutes (1981), since the evidence failed to establish the requisite proof of an intent to avoid arrest or detection through the killing. No showing was made that the dominant or sole motive for the murder was the elimination of witnesses. . . . Because the court below found three proper aggravating and no mitigating circumstances, the result it reached, in spite of the error as to one factor, was correct and the death penalty

properly imposed.

Dufour v. State, 495 So.2d 154, 164 (1986)(emphasis added).

Thereafter, in 1992, Mr. Dufour filed a 3.850 motion for postconviction relief and amended it on October 16, 2001(PCR V11, 1135). After a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the lower court, which was not the original trial court, granted an evidentiary hearing on three Claims: ineffective assistance of counsel, ineffective assistance of mental health expert, and the state's bad faith in the destruction of exculpatory evidence (PCR V11, 1133). The evidentiary hearing occurred November 18-21, 2002. The lower court denied relief on May 30, 2003 (PCR V11, 1133-52). This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the evidentiary hearing below, Donald Dufour's older brother, George Dufour, testified about Donald Dufour's childhood. Their father, Frank Dufour, was severely disabled. He contracted polio as a teenager and was left with a permanent limp (PCR V7 172). Two to four years before Donald was born, a trucking accident crushed Frank Dufour's good foot (PCR V7 172). In 1956, when Beverly Dufour was pregnant with Donald, Frank Dufour was involved in another accident. "[H]e was changing a tire on one of those semi-tractor rigs and the rim of the tire shattered and part of the rim went through his head and he had a steel plate in his head for the rest of his life" (PCR V7 173). Frank Dufour's injuries affected his family:

He had a hard time making a living. Due to his polio and

everything, a lot of people wouldn't hire him and when he had the injury with his foot he had a difficult time getting a job, but then it got really really bad when he had the tire blow up and had the steel plate put in his head.

(PCR V7 173).

Frank Dufour used alcohol to cope with his disabilities: "He would be drunk."

He would almost always be drunk. I seldom would remember him not being drunk."

(PCR V7 176). Frank Dufour was a terrifying and violent drunk.

We never had a meal with the entire family seated at the table. He couldn't stand if you touched the plate or spilled your milk, you overlook it or you beat the hell out of the kid that spilled the milk.

He couldn't handle anything that would be out of the ordinary. If something would have happened that had disturbed him he would have taken everything on the table and thrown it on the floor and glasses and plates hit the wall and if anybody said anything he would beat them choking them or something.

(PCR V7 175).

- Q. Describe how he [Frank Dufour] behaved the majority of the time while you lived in Florida?
- A. The closest I would say would be like walking on eggshells. You would be afraid to open your mouth. You are almost afraid to walk in a room because you don't know if it's going to cause a violent outburst of some type. Anything could trigger a rage. You never knew what was going to happen or when it was going to happen.

(PCR V7 179-80).

The family moved frequently because the Dufours could not afford to pay their rent (PCR V7 178). "I was reviewing a box of letters that I corresponded with my mother when I was away at college and I noted about 14 different addresses." (PCR V7 178-79).

Some of the addresses I never knew. I never knew they lived in St. Petersburg, but I guess they had lived in St. Petersburg for a while. I remember coming home from school and I went to the house and the house was empty because they had moved and nobody had bothered to tell me.

(PCR V7 179).

George Dufour described Donald Dufour as a child and through the time of the crime.

Donald was always a follower.

He would do anything that anybody ever asked him to do but, of course, he had to always have a leader. He would never be able to make a decision on his own.

He would come to live with me for a month or so at a time, but it would be a little stressful, because if he went out to the car to make a turn you would have to have someone tell him how to turn the car.

(PCR V7 181).

Donald began abusing drugs at a very young age, "[p]robably 10 or 12, and I'm

still not sure what it's called. I think it's a glue, toluene, or something like that, and he would have it in an Ovaltine jar and rags soaked in it and he would walk around and smell it and his eyes would be swollen, not knowing where he was." (182-83). When Donald was sixteen years old, "[h]e certainly knew about speed and downers and quaaludes, all the stuff you could do" and he was sexually involved with several of George's male friends (PCR V7 184-85, 188-89).

By the time Donald was a young adult, "he was not the same person that he was" (PCR V7 195). "His voice became raspier over time, like I think I understand from talking to other people when you are a speed freak, that that does that to your voice." (PCR V7 195). "All he did was drugs. I don't know if he ate." (PCR V7 195). "He could hardly speak sometimes. He would be so strung out and then he would try to clean up and stop. . ." (PCR V7 196).

- Q. Were you able to identify an actual change in his personality, a change in his voice, a change in his demeanor?
- A. Totally, direct opposite person.
- Q. You attribute that to his use of drugs?
- A. That's what I assumed it was.

(PCR V7 196).

The last time George saw Donald, shortly before the murder, Donald appeared

so mentally ill that he scared George (PCR V7 219).

- Q. As a practicing attorney, do you on occasions have to make evaluations of individuals, clients, witnesses, state of mind?
- A. I suppose you do in the practice, yes.
- Q. Would you say that Donald was in his right mind the last time you saw him?
- A. Oh, no; oh, Lord, no.
- Q. Would you have deemed him competent had you been representing him in court?
- A. No.
- Q. Would you have even gone so far as to say that he may not be perfectly sane at that point in time?
- A. I think I would have had a battery of psychiatrists involved and alert the judge that I had an incompetent client.

(PCR V7 221).

Raymond Dvorak testified that he and Jay Cohen were appointed to represent Mr. Dufour on the Zack Miller case. Mr. Dvorak had handled five capital murder cases prior to Mr. Dufour's, however, only one of the other five went to trial (PCR V7 225). Throughout the time he represented Mr. Dufour, Mr. Dvorak also actively worked on at least one other capital case (PCR V7 224).

Over the course of representing Mr. Dufour, counsel met with him for almost

eight hours, however, "a lot of visits were, for a lack of a better term, social. They had him in a one-man cell and had no contact with any other individuals and they would put the t.v. on the catwalk on the other side and that didn't change until I felt a jail informant was planted next to him." (PCR V7 257). Counsel described his relationship with Mr. Dufour:

Ultimately the call was always mine and I knew it. Donald, if I said, no we're going to say it's red, ultimately he would say yes it's red. That went into my ultimate strategy a great deal because there was no question in my mind after taking deposition [sic], talking to some of the other witnesses, that the leader of the gang that this thing sort of grew out of, these killings, was Robert Taylor. There was absolutely no question about that. Taylor was far more intelligent, manipulative, he was slick, sharp and good, but he knew it and he knew how to use it and I felt like Donald and Ryan and Carl Williams who Taylor murdered in Georgia and there was a kid named Elliott, with them, I felt like all these people were controlled by Taylor, I really did –

(PCR V7 258-59). Mr. Dvorak also testified that Mr. Dufour acted mentally ill.

There were a couple of things that happened during the course of the case that weren't normal things that happen in cases. Yeah, towards – we went through a period where Mr. Dufour believed that the jail personnel were trying to poison him and he refused to eat. . . When he came back from the hospital he was suppose [sic] to be the same old Donald. He related to me bizarre incidents, but it did not occur in my presence.

(PCR V7 261).

Q. Did you ever see any indication that Mr. Dufour was

indicating or any indications that Mr. Dufour did not have a grasp of reality?

A. There were times related to me certainly where I knew he didn't. When I worked with him one, on one, no, but he's in a jail cell. He's been dried out from months because he came from Parchman to Orlando, so he had already been in prison for however long.

(PCR V7 260).

In preparation for trial, counsel hired Dr. Gutman to evaluate Mr. Dufour.

I asked the doctor to examine him as to competency both for trial and competency at the time of the offense under the applicable competency rules at that time and law. . . .I wanted to know everything I could concerning Mr. Dufour's background, any influences that could help with his opinion. . .

### (PCR V7 230-31).

- Q. Do you recall whether you specifically asked him to consider mitigation as defined in the Florida Statute 921.141?
- A. I honestly can't say yes to that. I don't have an independent recollection.
- Q. What did you know about the mental health evaluation for mitigation purposes back then; did you know what that entails?
- A. Frankly, at that time in my experience, what was being done was you had a psychiatrist examine the client and then you went from there. Like I said, I kind of gone to school on other cases and what I had

seen and that's what we did then, right, wrong, that's what we did, and once I got what I considered to be an unsatisfactory opinion from Doctor Gutman, I didn't take it any further.

- Q. And what did you consider to be an unsatisfactory opinion?
- A. It didn't give me what I wanted. His conclusion was that Mr. Dufour was competent both at the time of the offense and for trial purposes and that he could not say that there was any psychiatric dynamic or reason behind the killing, behind the crime.

(PCR V7 231-32). After receiving Gutman's unsatisfactory competency report, counsel did not seek a second opinion or do anything else to investigate or find evidence of mental illness, brain damage, or Florida's statutory mental health mitigators (PCR V7 234).

Mr. Dvorak described his penalty phase theory.

I believed at the time that the best approach I could take was to try and stay somewhat consistent with that he was a follower, to show that he adapted well in an institutional setting and was not a danger there and he would be short of being there the rest of his life as a result of the verdict, and to try to show him as a somewhat normal person within the community, and given the community that he was in at the time, that was not an easy thing to do. These were very wild people, and I wanted to get as much of the good stuff as I could to him.

Having said that, I felt like why give them more ammunition that he's this drugged out drunken maniac who is most mothers' and fathers' worse [sic] fear out there with their kids.

(PCR V7 239-40). He believed that Stacey Sigler was the best mitigation witness he could present.

I felt that Stacey was one of the key witnesses against Donald in the guilt phase. Stacey had feelings for Don. They had been boyfriend and girlfriend, had lived together for, as I recall, quite a period of time, or been together as a couple for quite a period of time, and I felt like it would have a tremendous psychological impact on the jury to see a person who had helped convict him to get up there now and say he doesn't deserve to die, and I felt like I could blunt what she would have to say about the drug usage and the alcohol and her prostitution and things like that, easier than I could an expert, if that makes sense.

(PCR V7 241).

Mr. Dvorak was aware that Donald Dufour had been sexually abused as a child.

[W]hen Don was in his teens he lived for a period of time at his brother, George, who testified earlier, and that during that living together, that he was introduced, that Don was introduced to a homosexual lifestyle and that, in fact, his brother – this is kind of embarrassing – but his brother basically pimped him to homosexuals. I'm not sure who the source of that information was, it could have been Stacey Ziegler [sic] and it could have been Gary, but I'm a little more doubtful of that or it could have been Donald himself, . . . and I do recall in my conversation with George Dufour that that came up and that may have been what terminated the conversation.

(PCR V7 237-38).

A. As I recall, Don did confirm that he had certain

sexual encounters at a very young age. There seemed to be a lot of homosexual activity involved in it. I don't know if it was Don or another on the floor pimping by his brother when he went to him for safety. But someone that was very sexually active, very young in less than normal ways.

- Q. And is that material that you provided to Doctor Gutman, to the best of your recollection?
- A. I don't specifically recall if I would have told Doctor Gutman that.
- Q. Do you recall if one of these encounters that he told you about that you provided to Gutman could have been as young as the second grade?
- A. You say that and that rings a bell. I honestly don't recall, but that does ring a bell, something that young. I do have a vague recollection of something that young.
- Q. That's something you would have shared with Doctor Gutman?
- A. Certainly, if I would have known it I would have told him, I should have anyway.

#### (PCR V7 279-80).

- Q. Your recollection, as you sit here now is, someone, possibly Mr. Dufour, told you of a sexual encounter or –
- A. At a very young age involving homosexuality.

(PCR V7 290). Other than making one telephone call to George Dufour and speaking

with state guilt phase witnesses, counsel did nothing to investigate the sexual abuse or present it in mitigation.

Mr. Dvorak was also aware that Mr. Dufour was physically abused as a child. "He had a brutal childhood, but I liked Donald and I think Jay will tell you the same thing, we both liked Donald." (PCR V7 258).

Regarding Mr. Dufour's history of drug and alcohol abuse, counsel testified:

Brutal. I mean I knew it was brutal. I knew he had been doing drugs and alcohol from the time he was very young, possibly through [sic] teen, that came out in Doctor Gutman's report, that it crossed the board, everything from drinking to marijuana, if you go to the mild end, to acid and heroin on the heavy end quaaludes and things like that.

(PCR V7 238). "The impression I got from these people that it would be a rare occasion if their eyes weren't open if they weren't messed up somehow, even if it was just residual." (PCR V7 272). Even so, counsel did nothing to investigate the effects of the drugs and alcohol on Mr. Dufour's actions at the time of the crime.

- Q. Did you do anything to investigate the affects [sic] of that drug and alcohol abuse, investigating the affects [sic] of that on Donald Dufour's actions at the time leading up to the crimes and through the crimes?
- A. No, ma'am, not beyond asking the witness [sic], Ziegler [sic], Ryan, probably Taylor, and Doctor Gutman, did any independent investigation or what did that mean, no ma'am.

(PCR V7 238).

Dr. Lipman, a forensic neuropharmacologist, testified about the effects of Mr. Dufour's drug and alcohol abuse throughout his life and at the time of the crime. Dr. Lipman described Mr. Dufour's history of drug and alcohol abuse as "shockingly severe and it began at an [sic] very early age" (PCR V7 314).

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