## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD W. DUFOUR,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-1326

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No.: 986682 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Given that knowledge now, are there any other kinds of cases that where you think death would be more appropriate penalty than 25 years to life?

MS. FRAZIER: It's 25 years?

MR. TAMEN: In a penalty phase the Judge will give you some instructions of the kind of factors that under law could justify a death sentence, and other factors that could indicate a death sentence would not be appropriate. Would you be able to follow the law and consider other factors that would warrant a death sentence? Or do you have the feeling that only the murder of a child would justify a death sentence?

MS. FRAZIER: Not only a child really. It all depends on how the person was murdered. If he, you know, the person was beaten or raped or, you know.

MR. TAMEN: Especially violent?

MS. FRAZIER: Um-hum.

MR. TAMEN: Do you think that -- I don't want to go into all the different factors. Do you think there might be some factors that if you heard them might make you think, a well, that could justify a death sentence?

MS. FRAZIER: For the death penalty?

MR. TAMEN: Um-hum.

MS. FRAZIER: I guess it all depends. I don't think anyone should live if they kill somebody else.

MR. TAMEN: Would it be fair to say that you'll be open minded, and you'll listen to the law, and you'll follow the law as far as considering what could justify a death sentence and what should not?

See, the only thing I don't -- I want to make sure that I don't have people sitting on the jury who have already made up their mind as to what kinds of cases would justify death sentences, so that they wouldn't be able to look at this case fresh and listen to the law as it applies to this case, and then make a fresh decision whether --

MS. FRAZIER: (Interposing) If it was an accident I don't believe it should be -- if it was an accident, they had a good reason, and it just went off, and something like that, I don't believe it should be.

MR. TAMEN: What about if it was a deliberate killing? Would it tend to make you more inclined

toward a death sentence?

MS. FRAZIER: Yes.

MR. TAMEN: Okay. During the first phase of the trial where you'll be hearing evidence, the evidence will just be on whether the Defendant is guilty or not guilty. And that will be your job to decide, see, guilty of this crime or not guilty. And the Judge will tell you when you consider that verdict, guilty or not guilty, you're not supposed to consider the possible penalty. Get to that later.

If he's convicted do you think you could set aside any possible thoughts of a death penalty and decide whether he's guilty, first of all?

MS. FRAZIER: First he has to be guilty.

MR. DVORAK: I couldn't hear that answer, ma'am. Could you speak up just a bit, please?

MS. FRAZIER: First he has to be guilty.

MR. TAMEN: Would the thought that he might get the death penalty make you more reluctant to find him guilty than you would be with the same evidence if the death was not a possible sentence?

MS. FRAZIER: If he's guilty, yes, I'm sure I would.

MR. TAMEN: I have no further questions.

THE COURT: Anything else, Mr. Dvorak?

MR. DVORAK: Thank you, Your Honor.

Ms. Frazier, how do you feel, ma'am, when you read the newspaper or hear a news account that someone has been executed in this state or in a different state? What kinds of feelings go through your --

MS. FRAZIER: (Interposing) If I read what has happened and the kind of murder it was then I feel he should get the death penalty.

MR. DVORAK: You made a comment earlier, ma'am, that you don't think a person should live if they have killed another person.

MS. FRAZIER: Okay.

MR. DVORAK: Can you expand on that a little bit?

MS. FRAZIER: I think I was saying if it was the type of murder it was. If it was pre -- if he, you know, a premeditated murder, yes, I think he should get the death penalty. He thought about it. He knew what he was doing. If a person is sort of like retarded and he murdered somebody I don't think he should get a death penalty.

MR. DVORAK: Are you telling us in any -- and part

of the definition -- as an attorney I'm not here to instruct you on the law, but the Judge does that. We're getting into it a little bit. The definition of first degree murder includes an element of premeditation. Are you -- do you understand that?

MS. FRAZIER: Um-hum.

MR. DVORAK: Okay. Are you telling us, ma'am, that in any premeditated murder situation that you would vote for the death penalty regardless of what you heard concerning factors that might be in favor of the individual?

MS. FRAZIER: I would have to listen closely, look at closely what had happened, you know, why did he do it. Because there might have been a reason why he did it.

MR. DVORAK: Going into it, would your inclination be to favor the death penalty in that circumstance?

MS. FRAZIER: After I heard what happened.

MR. DVORAK: Speaking of what happened, obviously, at this point we're talking about the death penalty. We may never get to that phase. You understand that, don't you?

MS. FRAZIER: Um-hum.

MR. DVORAK: We're way ahead of ourselves here because you have heard no evidence yet.

MS. FRAZIER: Um-hum.

MR. DVORAK: All right, ma'am. Thank you.

(TR Vol. II, 248-257).

Thus, as the record reveals, Juror Frazier expressed no view of the death penalty which would prevent her from acting in accordance with the jury instructions and oath. Therefore, Appellant has failed to demonstrate that Juror Frazier was objectionable for cause or otherwise based upon her views of the death penalty. <u>See Wainwright</u>, 469 U.S. 412.

Appellant makes the same challenge to Juror Sullen claiming she also voiced a predisposition to impose death. However, upon questioning by defense counsel, Juror Sullen specifically stated that she did not believe that every premeditated murder should by punished by death. (TR Vol. III, 414-415). While defense counsel did raise an unsuccessful challenge for cause to Juror Sullen, the trial court properly determined that she stated she could follow the court's instructions and the law. (TR Vol. III, 418).

Based upon these facts, no basis existed for moving to challenge either juror for cause. Despite this, defense counsel did attempt to remove Juror Sullen for cause. However, notably, counsel did not seek to use a peremptory strike on either of the challenged jurors. In fact, the defense used all ten peremptory challenges and an additional two more without moving to strike either Juror Frazier or Sullen. (TR Vol. I, 282-283; Vol. IV, 572-577). The problem posed by a postconviction challenge of this nature was addressed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Jenkins v. State, 824 So. 2d 977, 980-983 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002).

In <u>Jenkins</u>, 824 So. 2d 977, 980, the defendant argued his lawyer was incompetent for failing to strike an allegedly biased juror for cause. The defense attorney used only seven of his ten peremptory strikes, and did not challenge the juror for cause. The State argued that, in the context of the entire voir dire, the juror's responses did not indicate any bias; and, the

trial court agreed. See Jenkins, 824 So. 2d at 980.

In affirming the denial of postconviction relief on this claim, the Fourth District Court of Appeal discussed the nature of a postconviction challenge to an attorney's actions during voir dire as follows:

This case lands at the crossroads of fundamental error and post-conviction relief. Appellant's lawyer neither objected to juror Galbraith, nor sought to excuse him with a peremptory challenge. The issue was therefore not preserved for direct appeal. Nor was it so serious as to amount to fundamental error. Seeking post- conviction relief, appellant argues that his lawyer was incompetent for allowing juror Galbraith to sit.

\* \* \* \* \*

The requirement of a timely objection to preserve the denial of a cause challenge for appeal serves a number of functions in our legal system. An objection during jury selection promotes judicial economy by allowing the court to remove an ungualified juror before the trial has begun, when other jurors are available for selection. A timely objection alerts the court and the other party to a problem, making possible further questioning to shed light on a potential juror's fitness to serve. A ruling on a juror's qualifications may turn on the way a juror answers a question; a trial judge is best able to evaluate a juror's qualifications when the juror's facial expression and tone of voice are fresh in the judge's mind. Seating a juror who does not pass the Singer test for juror competency creates an error not subject to harmless error analysis. For this reason, it is important for a court to rule on a juror's qualifications before a trial begins.

Finally, requiring the parties to voice challenges to objectionable jurors places the power of the jury selection in the hands of the parties, not the judge. The "methods of jury voir dire are subjective and individualistic." <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 418 So. 2d 987, 988 (Fla. 1982); <u>accord Miller v. Francis</u>, 269 F.3d 609, 620 (6th Cir. 2001) (observing that "few decisions at

trial are as subjective or prone to individual attorney strategy as juror voir dire, where decisions are often made on the basis of intangible factors"). Recognizing that the parties in a trial should have a large say in the choice of jurors, Florida has preserved the right of the parties to individually examine the jurors. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.300(b) (stating that "counsel for both the state and defendant shall have the right to examine jurors orally on their voir dire"); Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.431(b) (providing that "the right of the parties to conduct a reasonable examination of each juror orally shall be preserved"). A legal system that routinely used post-conviction relief as a vehicle for second guessing juror qualifications in the absence of a timely objection would encourage trial judges to intervene in the jury selection process and impose their views regarding which jurors satisfied objective standards of fairness.

On direct appeal, to preserve for appellate review a claim that the trial court improperly denied a cause challenge to a juror, a defendant must exhaust his peremptory challenges, request an additional peremptory challenge from the court, and demonstrate that an objectionable juror was seated. See Trotter <u>v. State</u>, 576 So. 2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1990); <u>Cason v.</u> <u>State</u>, 760 So. 2d 283, 284 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). As the supreme court has explained, a trial judge's erroneous refusal to grant a cause challenge abridges defendant's right to peremptory challenges by а reducing the number of those challenges available him. Florida and most other jurisdictions adhere to the general rule that it is reversible error for a court to force a party to use peremptory challenges on persons who should have been excused for cause, provided the party subsequently exhausts all of his or her peremptory challenges and an additional challenge is sought and denied. Hill, 477 So. 2d at 556.

To establish reversible error where he exhausted his peremptory challenges, a defendant must then identify a specific juror whom he otherwise would have struck peremptorily and who actually sat on the jury. "The defendant cannot stand by silently while an objectionable juror is seated and then, if the verdict is adverse, obtain a new trial." <u>Trotter</u>, 576 So. 2d at 693. See Jenkins, 824 So. 2d at 980-981.

In the instant case, Appellant's attorney exhausted his peremptory challenges and used an additional two challenges. And, while he objected to one of the challenged jurors for cause, he did not attempt to strike either of them peremptorily. Neither did defense counsel request additional peremptory challenges as a result of the denial of his cause challenge. In fact, no request for additional peremptories was denied by the trial court. Therefore, Appellant cannot demonstrate reversible error resulting from the fact that Jurors Frazier and Sullen sat on his jury.

The <u>Jenkins</u> court went on to explain the difference between an ineffective assistance of counsel claim for failing to make a cause challenge versus the review of a denial of a cause challenge on direct appeal.

Typically, on direct appeal, only fundamental errors may be corrected in the absence of a timely objection at trial. Much has been written trying to characterize a fundamental error. Fundamental error has been described as the type of error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 1002 (Fla. 2001); <u>Kilqore v. State</u>, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). "Fundamental error has been defined as one that goes to the essence of a fair and impartial trial, error so fundamentally unfair as to amount to a denial of due process." <u>Scoqgins v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 1185, 1189 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). A fundamental error so damages "the fairness of the trial that the public's interest

in our system of justice justifies a new trial even when no lawyer took the steps necessary to give a party the right to demand a new trial" on direct appeal. <u>Hagan v. Sun Bank of Mid-Florida</u>, 666 So. 2d 580, 586 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), disapproved on other grounds by <u>Murphy v. Int'l Robotic Sys., Inc.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000). In more mundane terms, a fundamental error is one where a judicial mind steeped in fairness reviews the facts and reflexively responds, "Outrageous!"

Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal. <u>See Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990). A lawyer's competence in failing to make a cause challenge should not be reviewed in a 3.850 proceeding in the same way that a denial of a cause challenge is reviewed on direct appeal. To do so is to undermine the trial process and to nullify the reasons for requiring a timely objection in the first place. Because a defendant must demonstrate prejudice in a 3.850 proceeding, post-conviction relief based on a lawyer's incompetence with regard to the composition of the jury is reserved for a narrow class of cases where prejudice is apparent from the record, where a biased juror actually served on the jury.

Where a lawyer's incompetence involves the failure to exercise a cause challenge, the proper inquiry is not whether the trial court would have sustained the challenge had it been made at trial. The <u>Singer</u> test is not concerned with actual prejudice to a defendant. <u>Singer</u>'s "any reasonable doubt" standard encourages some liberality in granting cause challenges at a time when the cost to the legal system is minimal.

\* \* \* \* \*

After trial, the <u>Strickland</u> requirement of actual prejudice imposes a more stringent test before a new trial can be ordered for the failure to object to a person's service on a jury. It is whether the lawyer's failure to raise a challenge resulted in a biased juror serving on the jury. <u>See Goeders v.</u> <u>Hundley</u>, 59 F.3d 73, 75 (8th Cir. 1995) (holding that where a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is grounded in the claim that counsel failed to strike a biased juror, a defendant "must show that the juror was actually biased against him"); <u>Hughes v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 258 F.3d 453, 458 (6th Cir. 2001) (citing <u>Goeders</u>). The nature of the juror's bias should be patent from the face of the record. Only where a juror's bias is so clear can a defendant show the necessary prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>, that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694; <u>accord</u> <u>Mickens v. Taylor</u>, 535 U.S. 162, 152 L. Ed. 2d 291, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 1240 (2002).

In this context, the search for a biased juror in a 3.850 proceeding is analogous to the search for fundamental error on direct appeal. The seating of a biased juror is the type of problem to which a trial judge must be sensitive, even in the absence of an Ιf objection objection. an to а juror's qualifications can be waived by failing to make a timely objection, the error is not a fundamental one. if a lawyer's "error" regarding a And juror's qualifications is not so serious as to be the equivalent of fundamental error, then post-conviction relief is not appropriate.

See Jenkins, 824 So. 2d at 981-984.

Here, as in <u>Jenkins</u>, where the record failed to demonstrate that a biased juror sat on the jury, Appellant has failed to show that he suffered any prejudice. Thus, no relief is warranted.

### B. Defense counsel's strategic decision to not pursue a voluntary intoxication defense fails to constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

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